IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

	* * *	
KIRSTIN BLAISE LOBATO,	Case No.: 58913	
Petitioner,	}	Electronically Filed Mar 05 2012 03:17 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman
VS.	}	Clerk of Supreme Court
STATE OF NEVADA,	}	
Respondents.)	

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Attorney for Petitioner	Attorneys for Respondents
Travis N. Barrick, SBN 9257 Gallian Wilcox Welker Olson & Beckstrom, LC 540 E St. Louis Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89104	Steven S. Owens, SBN 4352 Clark County District Attorney 200 Lewis Avenue Las Vegas, NV 89155
	Attorney for Respondents
	Catherine Cortez-Masto Nevada Attorney General 100 N. Carson Street Carson City, NV 89701

II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT.

a. Basis of Supreme Court's appellate jurisdiction.

This Court has jurisdiction over this action by way of NRS 177, NRS 34 and NRAP 3C.

b. Filing dates establishing timeliness of appeal.

On March 12, 2007, Ms. Lobato filed a Notice of Appeal.

On February 5, 2009, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed Ms. Lobato's conviction. Ms. Lobato filed a petition for rehearing which was denied on March 27, 2009. Ms. Lobato filed a petition for en bane reconsideration which was denied on May 19, 2009.

On October 14, 2009, remittitur issued.

On May 5, 2010, Ms. Lobato filed the instant Petition.

On March 17, 2011, the District Court held its hearing on Ms. Lobato's Petition.

On June 16, 2011, the District Court filed its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, which was the District Court's final order on Ms. Lobato's Petition.

On August 1, 2011, Ms. Lobato filed the instant appeal.

On August 2, 2011, Notice of Entry of the District Court Order was filed.

c. The instant appeal is from a final order of the District Court which denied Ms. Lobato's Petition.

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES.

- A. The District Court prejudicially erred in failing to consider and grant relief based on new evidence of Ms. Lobato's actual innocence, which thereby deprived her of her federal and state rights to due process, a fair trial, prohibiting cruel and unusual punishment and equal protection.
- B. The State failed to disclose exculpatory and impeachment evidence to Ms. Lobato per *Brady*, and she suffered material prejudice, which thereby deprived her of her federal and state rights to due process and a fair trial.
- C. Ms. Lobato's counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel per *Strickland*, and her counsel's deficiency was prejudicial, which thereby deprived her of her federal and state rights to effective assistance of counsel, due process and a fair trial.
- D. The District Court prejudicially erred in failing to conduct an evidentiary hearing on Ms. Lobato's claims based upon the State's failure to disclose evidence per *Brady*, and ineffective assistance of counsel per *Strickland*.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

A. First Trial.

On August 9, 2001, Kirstin Blaise Ms. Lobato was charged by way of Information with Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon (Open Murder) and Sexual Penetration of a Dead Human Body. [1 App.1-3] Ms. Lobato's jury trial began on May 7, 2002. On May 18, 2002, Ms. Lobato was found guilty of First Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon and Sexual Penetration of a Dead Human Body.

On August 27, 2002, Ms. Lobato was sentenced as follows: Count 1

1.

– First Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon, to a maximum of fifty (50) years and a minimum parole eligibility of twenty (20) years plus an equal and consecutive term for use of a deadly weapon; Count 2 – Sexual Penetration of a Dead Human Body, to a maximum of fifteen (15) years and a minimum parole eligibility of five (5) years, to run concurrently with Count 1; further, a Special Sentence of Lifetime Supervision imposed to commence upon release of any term of probation parole, or imprisonment, two hundred and thirty-three (233) days credit for time served. A Judgment of Conviction (Jury Trial) was filed September 16, 2002.

Ms. Lobato filed a Notice of Appeal on October 15, 2002. On September 3, 2004, the Nevada Supreme Court reversed Ms. Lobato's conviction and remanded for a new trial. Lobato v. State, 120 Nev. 512, 96 P.3d 765 (2004). [1 App.126-142] Remittitur issued on September 24, 2004.

B. Second Trial.

Ms. Lobato's second trial began on September 11, 2006. [2
App.253-1038]

On October 6, 2006, Ms. Lobato was found guilty of Voluntary

Manslaughter with Use of a Deadly Weapon and Sexual Penetration of a

Dead Human Body. [2 App. 240]

On February 2, 2007, Ms. Lobato was sentenced as follows: Count 1 – Voluntary Manslaughter With Use of a Deadly Weapon, to a maximum of one hundred twenty (120) months with a minimum parole eligibility of forty-eight (48) months, plus and equal and consecutive term for the use of a deadly weapon; Count 2 – Sexual Penetration of a Dead Human Body, to a maximum of one hundred eighty (180) months with a minimum parole eligibility of sixty (60) months, Count 2 to run consecutive with Count 1, with one thousand five hundred forty-four (1,544) days credit for time served. It was further ordered that a special sentence of lifetime supervision be imposed upon release from any term of imprisonment, probation, or parole. Additionally, Ms. Lobato was ordered to register as a sex offender upon any release from custody. [5 App. 1036-1047]

Ms. Lobato filed a Notice of Appeal on March 12, 2007. On February 5, 2009, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed Ms. Lobato's conviction. [5 App. 1112-1116] Ms. Lobato filed a petition for rehearing which was denied on March 27, 2009. [5 App.1117-1128] Ms. Lobato filed a petition for en bane reconsideration which was denied on May 19, 2009. [5 App.1129-1140] Remittitur issued on October 14, 2009. [5 App. 1148-49] Ms. Lobato filed the instant original and timely petition on May 5, 2010

(the "Petition"). [6 App.1150-1920]

V. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u>.

A. Scene and Circumstances of the Murder.

Duran Bailey was found dead in a Nevada State Bank's trash enclosure on the west side of Las Vegas on July 8, 2001 at around 10:00 p.m. (the "July Murder"). [2 App. 267] Mr. Bailey had been severely beaten, stabbed in his face, neck, abdomen, rectum, hands, arm, and fingers, many teeth had been knocked out, his jaw was broken, his penis was amputated, he had abrasions on his face, and the back of his skull was fractured. [2 App. 415-16] His pants were around his knees. [2 App. 284] In his pocket were found several scraps of paper with telephone numbers, one of which arguably belonged to a LVMPD officer. [9 App.1815]

Medical Examiner Dr. Larry Simms determined at autopsy Mr. Bailey's cause of death was "blunt head trauma," [6 App. 1206] which caused brain swelling. [2 App. 446]

Dr. Simms opined at trial that wounds to Mr. Bailey's abdomen, rectum, and penis were post-mortem. [2 App. 419]

Dr. Simms believed many of the wounds were inflicted with a sharp instrument, such as a knife, but it was possible they were caused by scissors. [2 App. 416, 425] No weapon was ever recovered. [2 App.264]

Dr. Simms testified Bailey's skull fracture was more consistent with the back of his head hitting the sharp concrete curb around the edge of the trash enclosure than being hit by a blunt object such as a bat because there was no depression in his skull. [2 App. 430]

Dr. Simms performed an examination of Mr. Bailey's body on July 9 and at trial estimated to a reasonable medical certainty that Mr. Bailey's death occurred 12 to 18 hours prior to an examination at 3:50 a.m. at the crime scene. [2 App. 443] Mr. Bailey had a blood alcohol level of .11 and his blood also included a breakdown product of cocaine. [2 App. 435] There was semen in his rectum. [2 App. 448]

Dr. Simms testified this July Murder was not characteristic of a female perpetrator and that none of the other murders he had been involved with during his career that had similar characteristics were committed by a woman. [2 App. 439] Defense criminology expert Brent Turvey likewise testified that the manner of the July Murder was associated with male perpetrators. [4 App. 819-20, 828]

B. Ms. Lobato's Description of the May Budget Suites Assault.

Ms. Lobato was an 18-year-old girl and resident of Panaca of who had recently graduated from high school in Lincoln County. [5 App. 943]

Ms. Lobato spent time in Las Vegas in the spring of 2001 working

with a friend. [Exhibit 125A at 17, 2 App. 310; 4 App. 902] She stayed in Las Vegas with friends, sometimes at the Budget Suites Hotel at Nellis Boulevard and Flamingo near the Boulder Highway, and sometimes at their homes. [2 App. 353; Exhibit 125A at 3]

Ms. Lobato has consistently claimed that prior to June 20, 2001, she was sexually assaulted in the parking lot of a Budget Suites Hotel on Las Vegas' east side (the "May Budget Suites Assault"), and she used the butterfly knife that she carried for self-protection to escape from her assailant. [Exhibit 125A at 3-5, 27; 2 App. 355; 5 App. 989] Ms. Lobato admitted that she was using methamphetamine during the time that she was attacked. [Exhibit 125A at 4, 18. 2 App. 355]

Ms. Lobato told Dixie Tienken, a school teacher in Panaca, about the May Budget Suites Assault. [2 App. 297] Ms. Tienken testified as a State's witness that Ms. Lobato told her the man who attacked her was similar in size to Ms. Tienken's grandson, who was more than 6 foot tall and weighed more than 200 pounds. [2 App. 311] Ms. Tienken testified it was her understanding Ms. Lobato stabbed the man in the abdomen and cut his penis, but Ms. Tienken did not say that Ms. Lobato stabbed him anywhere else or that she punched him, used a baseball bat, knocked his

¹ Bailey was 5 foot 10 inches tall and weighed 133 pounds at autopsy. [2 App. 448]

teeth out, cut off his penis. [2 App. 312] Ms. Tienken testified Ms. Lobato told her "that she saw the man stand up" after she got away from him. [2 App. 312]

Ms. Lobato also told Michele Austria about the May Budget Suites Assault. [2 App. 367] Ms. Austria testified as a State's witness that Ms. Lobato told her only that she slashed at the man's penis and did not say that Ms. Lobato repeatedly stabbed her attacker in other locations, beat him, gave him two black eyes, cut off his penis, or beat him with a baseball bat, and she did not say the man was dead. [2 App. 373]

Ms. Lobato specifically told the police that she discussed the May Budget Suites Assault with a woman in east Las Vegas nicknamed Mumblelina more than a month prior to the date of her interrogation on July 20, 2001. [3 App. 673] Mumbelina told Ms. Lobato that she too had been sexually assaulted and it could have been by the same man who assaulted Ms. Lobato. [3 App. 673]

Sometime after Ms. Lobato told Ms. Tienken about the May Budget Suites Assault, Ms. Tienken told her friend Laura Johnson, the Lincoln County Juvenile Probation Officer, about the May Budget Suites Assault.

Several days later, Ms. Johnson called the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police

Department ("LVMPD") inquiring whether they had any cases where a man

suffered an injury to his penis. [2 App. 306, 399, 407-08; 7 App. 605] At no time did Ms. Johnson personally speak with Ms. Lobato or attempt to contact her. [2 App. 412]

C. LVMPD Interrogation of Ms. Lobato.

On July 20, 2001, LVMPD detective Thomas Thowsen and his partner James LaRochelle drove to Panaca and interrogated Ms. Lobato, who gave a voluntary statement (the "Voluntary Statement"). The detectives were accompanied by Crime Scene Analyst Maria Thomas who took photos and sealed Ms. Lobato's car for transport to Las Vegas. [3 App. 568-69] The detectives advised Ms. Lobato they were aware she had been a victim of sexual assault as a 6-year-old child. [3 App. 607, 669-70] Ms. Lobato began to sob and cry. [3 App. 607] While Ms. Lobato was sobbing and crying, the detectives obtained her Miranda waiver. [3 App. 669-70] The detectives obtained the Miranda waiver by having her read and sign a card while in her emotional state. [3 App. 669] Ms. Lobato continued crying during the interrogation. [3 App. 669, 683]

Subsequently, Ms. Lobato was shown a photo of Mr. Bailey by the detectives and she didn't recognize him. [7 App. 1479, 1490]

D. Facts Introduced at Trial.

1. The State's theory of the Crime.

The State advanced the theory that Ms. Lobato left Panaca on July 6 and drove to Las Vegas in her car to obtain methamphetamine. Upon finding Mr. Bailey, she killed and mutilated him and raced back to Panaca.

[5 App. 1005-06]

In her closing, Ms. Lobato argued the State (i) erred by hastily arresting and charging her without conducting any investigation whatsoever, [5 App. 1014, 1020-21] and (ii) justified her arrest and prosecution by conflating two completely different events – the May Budget Suites Assault and Mr. Bailey's July Murder weeks later. [5 App. 1021]

With no direct evidence linking Ms. Lobato to Mr. Bailey's July Murder, the prosecution argued it was *possible* she committed the crime, [5 App. 1011, 1027] and on rebuttal argued it was too coincidental for two men to have suffered injuries to their penises, so the alleged sexual assault against Ms. Lobato and the July Murder of Mr. Bailey must be the same event. [5 App. 1013] The prosecution argued Dr. Simms' testimony supported that Mr. Bailey died on the morning of July 8 [5 App. 1005], and yet conceded that alibi witness evidence established Ms. Lobato was in Panaca on July 8 from at least "11:30 a.m. through the night," and that she probably there at "10 a.m." and made a telephone call to her step-mother. [5

App. 1008]

2. Motive.

The State offered no evidence Ms. Lobato drove to Las Vegas on July 6, that she knew Mr. Bailey, that she had ever been to the Nevada State Bank, or that she had a motive for the killing of Mr. Bailey. Testimony established Mr. Bailey used only crack cocaine, marijuana and alcohol (and not methamphetamine), [2 App. 435, 473, 4 App. 700]; and alcohol and cocaine was in his blood when he died. [2 App. 435] In contrast, there was no testimony Ms. Lobato ever used any crack cocaine, or any methamphetamine at any time in the month of July 2001, and there was none in her system on July 5 and July 7, 2001 – only one day prior to Mr. Bailey's murder. [4 App. 750]

3. Time of Death.

Dr. Simms testified that he believed to a reasonable medical certainty Mr. Bailey's time of death was between 9:50 a.m. and 3:50 p.m. on July 8, between 12 to 18 hours prior to examination of his body at 3:50 a.m. on July 9. [2 App. 443] Dr. Simms also testified there was a 5% probability Mr. Bailey died between 8 to 24 hours prior to examination of his body, which would have been between 3:50 a.m. and 7:50 p.m. on July 8. [2 App. 457]

The route from Las Vegas to Panaca that is 165 miles is primarily on a two-lane highway and takes approximately three hours to travel. [4 App. 761] In order to have committed the July Murder and be back in Panaca at 10 a.m., Ms. Lobato would have to have departed Las Vegas by 7 a.m.

4. Ms. Lobato's Alibi Evidence.

Substantial evidence was presented by prosecution and defense witnesses that support Ms. Lobato's contention that she was in Panaca continuously from July 2 through the early morning of July 9.

State's witness Stephen Pyszkowski testified he hoped to celebrate July 4th with Ms. Lobato in Las Vegas, but she cancelled their plans because she wanted to return to Panaca before the 4th. [2 App. 357]

State's witness Michelle Austria testified that she saw Ms. Lobato in Panaca on July 4. [2 App. 367] She specifically recalled going fourwheeling with Ms. Lobato in Panaca on July 8. [2 App. 374]

Jo Wuori testified she lived next door to Ms. Lobato in Panaca and she recalled seeing Ms. Lobato between 11:00 a.m. and 1:00 p.m. on July 8 when she was on a 4-wheeler. [4 App. 751-52]

Clint Hohman recalled seeing Ms. Lobato in Panaca around July 2 and again on July 8 at around 11:30 a.m. when he saw her four-wheeling with Austria. [4 App. 880-81]

 State's witness Paul Brown, another Panaca resident, recalled seeing Ms. Lobato on July 7 and 8. [2 App. 384]

State's witness Christopher Carrington testified he saw Ms. Lobato in Panaca on July 5, 6, 7 and in the morning, afternoon and evening of July 8 up until he left Ms. Lobato's house between 10:30 and 11 p.m. [2 App. 461-62, 465-66, 470]

Shayne Kraft recalled that Ms. Lobato returned to Panaca from Las Vegas a couple of days before the 4th of July, they spent time together at Ms. Lobato's house on July 4, and she saw her again on July 8 from about 6:30 p.m. until 8:00 p.m. [4 App. 771] Shayne's husband, John Kraft, testified he saw Ms. Lobato on July 8 at around 7:00 a.m. and later that day around 8:00 p.m. [4 App.779, 780]

Kendre Thunstrom talked with Ms. Lobato in front of her house on July 8 right before sunset. [4 App. 886]

Ms. Lobato's sister, Ashley, testified Ms. Lobato returned to Panaca from Las Vegas a couple of days before the 4th of July. [4 App. 889] She recalled Ms. Lobato was sick, slept a lot, and did not eat well. [4 App. 889] She saw Ms. Lobato on July 8 and spent a couple of hours with her in midafternoon, and she last saw her at about 12:20 a.m. on July 9 when Ms. Lobato was getting ready to go to Las Vegas with her friend Doug Twining

3

5

7

9

11

12 13

14

15 16

17

18

19

20 21

22

23

2425

26

27

28

who was driving from Las Vegas to pick her up. [4 App. 891]

Ms. Lobato's father, Lorenzo, testified Ms. Lobato returned to Panaca on July 2 and stayed until July 9 at about 1:00 a.m. when she left for Las Vegas with Twining. [4 App. 917] Lorenzo saw Ms. Lobato every night when he came home from work and every morning when he awoke. [4 App. 903, 905] He testified Ms. Lobato was tired and ill when she arrived in Panaca. [4 App. 904]

Ms. Lobato's stepmother, Rebecca, testified Ms. Lobato returned to Panaca from Las Vegas on July 2. [5 App. 930] Rebecca saw her at their house every day through the early morning of July 9. [5 App. 934-937] Ms. Lobato wasn't feeling well and on July 5 and Rebecca took Ms. Lobato to the doctor and then stayed home with her on July 6. [9 App. 1653] During the doctor visit on July 5, Ms. Lobato discussed the fact she suffered from depression and anxiety. [5 App. 934] Also during that doctor's visit Ms. Lobato's blood was drawn for testing and on the morning of July 7 Rebecca collected a urine sample for testing. [5 App. 956] The blood and the urine both tested negative for methamphetamine. [5 App. 1005] Rebecca reviewed telephone bills which were admitted as exhibits, and the bills reflected telephone calls from her home phone to Mr. Twining on July 6, 7 and 8. [5 App. 938] Ms. Lobato was the person who called Twining. [5

App. 938] The last two calls were on July 8 at 5:06 pm and 6:38 p.m. [5 App. 946] On July 9, around 1:00 a.m. Ms. Lobato was picked up by Mr. Twining. [5 App. 937] She stayed with Mr. Twining in Las Vegas until July 13 when she returned to Panaca. [5 App. 937]

Twining testified Ms. Lobato left Las Vegas on July 2 and he picked her up in Panaca early on July 9. [5 App. 984, 987] His cell phone record was introduced as an exhibit and it reflected calls that he made to Ms. Lobato in Panaca on July 2, 3, 4, 5, 7 and 8. [5 App. 986] When Mr. Twining stopped for gas in Alamo on the way to Panaca he talked with a Lincoln County Sheriff's Deputy. [5 App. 991] Mr. Twining's cell phone records show he called Panaca at 10:46 p.m. from Alamo. [5 App. 987] The records show that at 12:45 a.m. on July 9, Mr. Twining called Ms. Lobato's house, which he testified was so Ms. Lobato could guide him to the house. [5 App. 987]

Several Panaca residents testified Ms. Lobato's car was parked in the same position after her return to Panaca in early July and that it did not ever move until it was seized by the police on July 20, 2001. [Carrington, 2 App. 471]; [neighbor Robert McCrosky, 4 App. 791-92]; [neighbor Jeanette McCrosky, 4 App. 795]; [Lorenzo Lobato, 4 App. 903]. Ms. Lobato told police that after the attack she left her car at Jeremy Davis' house for about

a week. [3 App. 665] Davis testified Ms. Lobato left her car at his house in the last week of May 2001. [6 App. 1122] Stephen Psyzkowski testified that Ms. Lobato hid her car at an apartment complex near his house because she was afraid someone might recognize her car, and her car was towed from that apartment complex on June 6, 2001. [2 App. 358, 631-62]

5. The State's Challenge to the May Budget Suites Assault as a Defense.

Although the District Court allowed testimony by prosecution and defense witnesses that Ms. Lobato had told them about the May Budget Suites Assault, the court sustained the State's objections to testimony that they were told about the May Budget Suites Assault at any time *prior* to the date of Mr. Bailey's murder. Pyszkowski, [2 App. 358]; Heather McBride, [3 App. 603-05]; and Lorenzo Lobato. [5 App. 912]

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