1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2
3
4 Electronically Filed
Jul 06 2012 10:59 a.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court

5 KIRSTIN BLAISE LOBATO,

6 Appellant,

7 v.

8 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

9 Respondent.

Case No. 58913

10
11 **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

12 **Appeal From Denial of Post Conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus**
13 **Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

14 TRAVIS N. BARRICK, ESQ.
15 Gallian Wilcox Welker
16 Olson & Beckstrom, LC
17 Nevada Bar #9257
18 540 E St. Louis Avenue
19 Las Vegas, Nevada 89104
20 (702) 892-3500

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565
Regional Justice Center
200 Lewis Avenue

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

20 District and state courts are split on whether evidence that was available at
21 trial can support a Schlup claim. However, such is not at issue here as Appellant's
22 petition is not procedurally barred. Appellant attempts to assert underlying
23 constitutional claims of due process and cruel and unusual punishment, however,
24 Appellant's Claims 1-24, do not allege constitutional error at trial, were not
25 procedurally barred and simply raise the issue of new evidence not raised at trial.

26 In this case, the time limitation procedural bar of NRS 176.515(3) took
27 effect on October 14, 2011, however, Appellant improperly raised Claims 1-24
28

1 based on new evidence in a habeas petition filed on May 5, 2010. That is, because
2 the procedural bar of NRS 176.515(3) was not in effect when Appellant raised new
3 evidence claims in a habeas petition, Appellant cannot rely on Snow and
4 D’Agostino, which only allow for new evidence claims to be brought in a habeas
5 petition when the procedural bar of NRS 176.515(3) is in effect. Snow, 105 Nev. at
6 523, and D’Agostino, 112 Nev. at 425. Thus, Appellant cannot rely on the
7 aforementioned cases in order to circumvent filing a timely motion for new trial
8 based on new evidence through a timely habeas petition. Appellant’s Claims 1-24
9 are therefore are not “gateway” claims as in Schlup, because they were not
10 procedurally barred and did not assert an underlying constitutional claim.

11 By contrast, Claims 1-24 are “freestanding” claims of actual innocence.
12 “Freestanding” claims of actual innocence are those wherein a petitioner alleges
13 actual innocence alone, rather than actual innocence supported by a claim of
14 constitutional deficiency, warrants relief². See Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390,
15 113 S.Ct. 853 (1993). The United States Supreme Court acknowledged in Herrera
16 that claims of actual innocence based on newly discovered evidence have never
17 been held as a ground for habeas relief absent an independent constitutional
18 violation occurring in the underlying criminal proceeding. Id. In Herrera, the
19 United States Supreme Court found federal habeas relief was not available for
20 freestanding claims of actual innocence where state law provides an avenue to
21 pursue the claim. Id. Such an avenue exists where state law allows for pardon or
22 clemency, even if the law excludes the petitioners claim in the judicial arena due to
23 procedural bars applicable to writs and motions for new trials. Id. The Court
24 assumed, for the sake of argument, that such claim may exist where a petitioner
25 was sentenced to death and state law precluded any relief, but stated the standard

26
27 ² The State acknowledges that Appellant’s Claims 25-79 combine claims of alleged
28 constitutional error and actual innocence. However, 1-24 are based solely on
Appellant’s alleged innocence.

1 for actual innocence in such situation would be extraordinarily high and require a
2 petitioner to “unquestionably establish” his innocence. Herrera, 506 U.S. at 417;
3 Schlup, 513 U.S. at 317. Further, a freestanding claim of actual innocence, if it
4 exists at all, has never been held to be available in a non-capital case. Herrera, 506
5 U.S. at 404-405, 416-417.

6 This Court has never recognized freestanding claims of actual innocence,
7 even for petitioners sentenced to death. State ex rel. Orsborn v. Fogliani, 82 Nev.
8 300, 471 P.2d 148 (1966), cited by Appellant, is inapposite as in Orsborn the
9 defendant learned that the prior felony, upon which his Nevada conviction for ex-
10 felon in possession of a firearm was based, actually was not a felony. Id. As such,
11 the “new evidence” did not establish that Orsborn was factually innocent of a
12 committed crime, rather that the conduct was not prohibited. Id. To the contrary, is
13 where petitioners have asserted claims of actual innocence in a timely petition,
14 which represents freestanding claims, as is the case here. Further, it would be
15 unwise for this Court to recognize freestanding claims of actual innocence as to
16 either capital cases or non-capital cases because of the disruptive effect that
17 entertaining such claims would have on the need for finality in capital cases and
18 the enormous burden that would be placed on the State to retry cases in which
19 evidence and witnesses may no longer be available due to the passage of time.
20 Additionally, the reliability of the criminal adjudication would suffer as memory
21 erodes and witnesses disperse over the passage of time.

22 Appellant asserts that the district court misapplied Herrera by citing Justice
23 O’Connor’s concurrence in that the affidavits in support of Appellant’s petition
24 should be treated with a fair amount of skepticism. Appellant attempts to support
25 this assertion by citing the majority holding that if the testimony contained in the
26 affidavits was presented at trial, the jury would have ultimately decided their
27 credibility. However, the majority also held that “In the new trial context, motions
28

1 based solely upon affidavits are disfavored because the affiants' statements are
2 obtained without the benefit of cross-examination and an opportunity to make
3 credibility determinations." Herrera, 506 U.S. at 417. Precisely is the case here.
4 Appellant then asserts that pursuant to Schlup, the reviewing tribunal is not bound
5 by the rules of admissibility and may consider the probative value of the evidence.
6 Appellant's argument fails in that admissibility is not the key issue, as the majority
7 in Herrera reaffirms the need for caution and skepticism in reviewing such
8 affidavits because the reviewing tribunal lacks the benefit of cross-examination in
9 making credibility determinations which directly effects probative value.

10 Appellant asserts that the district court misapplied D'Agostino in that the
11 holding allowed for Appellant to raise new evidence claims in a habeas petition.
12 As discussed above, the holding in D'Agostino allows for defendants to raise
13 claims of newly discovered evidence in a habeas petition when the evidence was
14 discovered after the two year time limitation to file a motion for new trial pursuant
15 to NRS 175.515(3) has elapsed. Such is not the case here, as Appellant's claims of
16 newly discovered evidence were improperly raised in a habeas petition a mere
17 seven months following Remittitur, and well within the two year limitation to raise
18 such claims in a motion for new trial. D'Agostino further affirms the
19 constitutionality of the two year time limitation per NRS 175.515(3). 112 Nev. at
20 425. Thus, Appellant has improperly attempted to circumvent the procedural
21 course.

22 D'Agostino further addresses what is considered new evidence for purposes
23 of filing a motion for new trial pursuant to NRS 175.515(3). In D'Agostino it was
24 discovered that several charges pending against the State's key witness were
25 dismissed after trial, when at the trial, the witness denied any possible favorable
26 treatment by the State. Id. at 423. This Court found that since the issue of favorable
27 treatment regarding pending charges had been explored at trial, the information
28

1 that the witness later had pending charges dismissed was not such to render a
2 different result probable upon retrial and thus the evidence was not newly
3 discovered. Id. This Court found further that “To merit a new trial, newly
4 discovered evidence must be evidence that could not have been discovered through
5 reasonable diligence either before or during trial.” Id. (citing Sanborn v. State, 107
6 Nev. 399, 406, 812 P.2d 1279, 1284 (1991)). This Court found that the evidence
7 discussed above did not amount to newly discovered evidence to merit a new trial
8 in applying the reasonable diligence standard. D’Agostino, 112 Nev. at 423. In
9 this case, Appellant has entirely ignored the holding and analysis in D’Agostino
10 with regard to what constitutes newly discovered evidence.

11 Appellant asserts that the district court erred in its application of NRS
12 34.810 by denying Claims 1, 4, 6-14, 24 and 78 as barred because they could have
13 been raised in a timely motion for new trial. Appellant bases this argument on her
14 assertion that she may raise new evidence claims after the two year time limit
15 imposed by NRS 176.515(3) pursuant to D’Agostino. As has been thoroughly
16 discussed above, Appellant cannot rely on D’Agostino, as her new evidence claim
17 could have been raised in a timely motion for new trial, but instead was improperly
18 raised in a timely habeas petition. Thus, the court correctly applied NRS 34.810 to
19 the aforementioned Claims.

20 Appellant further asserts that by failing to raise NRS 34.810 as an
21 affirmative defense, the State waived it as such, and the district court had no basis
22 to raise it sua sponte. However, the procedural default rules regarding habeas
23 proceedings are not an affirmative defense that must be raised by the State. State v.
24 Haberstroh, 119 Nev. 173, 180, 69 P.3d 676, 681 (2003). Further, the district court
25 may raise the issue of procedural default sua sponte when the default is obvious
26 from the face of the petition. Vang v. Nevada, 329 F.3d 1069, 1073 (9th Cir 2003).

1 **1/2/3. Entomology and Pathology Evidence That Bailey Died After**
2 **Sunset on July 8, 2001**

3 Appellant claimed new entomology and pathology evidence showed Bailey
4 did not die until after 8:00 p.m. on July 8, 2001. (VI AA 1174-81). Based merely
5 on photos of Bailey, three entomologists claimed the absence of blow fly activity
6 shows Bailey died after 8:00 p.m. (Claim 1). (Id. at 1174-78). Four entomologists
7 also noted the absence of cockroach or other predatory animal bites, which
8 Appellant claimed supported the conclusion that Bailey died shortly before Shott
9 discovered the body (Claim 3). (Id. at 1182-84). Additionally, a forensic
10 pathologist opined, based solely on review of pictures, that Bailey died in the early
11 evening, a few hours before discovery (Claim 2). (Id. at 1179-81). The district
12 court denied Claims 1, 2 and 3 as the affidavits merely expressed an elaboration or
13 opinion based upon the evidence available and presented at trial. As such, the
14 opinions were not newly discovered evidence under D'Agostino. (XI AA 2265,
15 2281). In this case, Appellant's Claims 1, 2, and 3 elaborate on the evidence
16 available and presented at trial, and thus pursuant to D'Agostino, do not constitute
17 newly-discovered evidence. Therefore the district court correctly denied the
18 Claims.

19 Appellant's Claims 1, 2 and 3 merely involve opinions based upon review of
20 pictures as to Bailey's time of death as a means of countering the extensive
21 testimony of Dr. Simms, who conducted the autopsy of Bailey and concluded a
22 window of time as to Bailey's time of death. (II AA 443). As such, Appellant has
23 only demonstrated differing opinions between the Dr. who performed the autopsy
24 and others whom have only reviewed photos. While this Court does not recognize
25 freestanding claims of actual innocence such as those presented in Appellant's
26 Claims 1, 2 and 3, the Claims fall exceedingly short of meeting the extraordinarily
27 high burden of unquestionably establishing Appellant's innocence pursuant to
28 Herrera.

1 **4. Psychology Evidence That Appellant’s Statement Is Not A**
2 **Confession To The Murder**

3 Appellant claimed new evidence proves her statement to police was not a
4 confession to Bailey’s murder (Claim 4). (VI AA 1185-90). Appellant based this
5 claim on “new” evidence in the form of a psychologist’s opinion following review
6 of trial testimony, evidence, and Appellant’s statement to police. (Id. at 1186).
7 Appellant argued old evidence, including a polygraph test and Doug Twining’s
8 statement to police, bolstered this claim³. (Id. at 1188-89). The district court denied
9 Claim 4 as the psychologist’s affidavit merely expressed an elaboration or opinion
10 based upon the evidence available and presented at trial. (XI AA 2265). As such,
11 the opinions were not newly discovered evidence under D’Agostino. (Id. at 2281).
12 The district court further denied Claim 4 pursuant to Herrera in that post trial
13 affidavits should be treated with a degree as skepticism as such are obtained
14 without the benefit of cross examination. 506 U.S. at 417, 423.

15 The district court also found Claim 4 does not establish actual innocence as
16 such is simply an alternate opinion of the evidence presented at trial. (XI AA
17 2265). The district court was correct in this ruling for two reasons. First,
18 freestanding claims of actual innocence are not recognized in Nevada. Second, the
19 existence of mere alternate opinions of evidence presented at trial does not
20 unquestionably establish Appellant’s innocence.

21 Finally, the district court noted the polygraph examinations were
22 inadmissible without a stipulation from Appellant, Appellant’s trial counsel, and
23 the State. (Id. at 2265, 2281); Jackson v. State, 116 Nev. 334, 997 P.2d 121 (2000).
24 Appellant argues that Schlup allows for the reviewing tribunal to consider the

25 ³ Appellant referred to a polygraph test, conducted at the request of prior counsel,
26 after which the polygraph examiner opined that Appellant did not kill Bailey and
27 Rebecca Lobato did not create a false alibi for Appellant. (VI AA 1188-89).
28 Appellant also referred to Doug Twining’s police statement wherein he claimed
Appellant told him about the sexual assault before Bailey’s killing. (Id. at 1189).
As Appellant does not contend these points are new evidence, such are irrelevant
to the instant claim.

1 probative value of relevant evidence despite inadmissibility. First, the affidavit of
2 the polygraph examiner simply states that Appellant was inconsistent throughout
3 the exam and that examiner Ron Slay did not believe she killed Bailey, yet he
4 declined to complete a report stating that Appellant passed the entire exam. (VII
5 AA 1570-1571). Second, the probative value of the exam, if any, is clouded by the
6 examiner's own reservations coupled with the questionable nature of such exams
7 inherent in their treatment by the courts. While Nevada does not recognize
8 freestanding claims of actual innocence, it is clear that the polygraph exam fails to
9 meet the extraordinarily high burden of unquestionably establishing Appellant's
10 innocence based upon the foregoing analysis.

11 **5. Witness Statements That Budget Suites Sexual Assault Occurred 12 Before the Homicide**

13 Appellant claimed "new" witness⁴ statements support her story that the
14 Budget Suites attack occurred prior to Bailey's homicide as the potential witnesses
15 claim Appellant told them about the attack before the homicide (Claim 5). (VI AA
16 1190-95). Witnesses who testified at Appellant's trial provided six out of nine of
17 these "new" statements. One of the remaining three claims to have provided her
18 statement to police. (VI AA 1192). The district court correctly denied Claim 5 as
19 Appellant was attempting to re-litigate issues, through cumulative evidence, that
20 this Court already ruled on in Lobato v. State, 120 Nev. 512, 522, 96 P.2d 765
21 (2004). (XI AA 2265). Under the law of the case doctrine, issues previously
22 decided on direct appeal may not be reargued in a habeas petition. Pellegrini v.
23 State, 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519 (2001) (citing McNelson v. State, 115 Nev. 396,
24 414-415, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275 (1999)). As such, the law of the case barred Claim
25 5. Id.

26
27 ⁴ Appellant relies on the following potential witnesses' statements: Steven
28 Pyszkowski, Cathy Reininger, Michele Austria, Heather McBride, Dixie Tienken,
Doug Twining, Daniel Lisoni, Kimberlee Grindstaff, and Christopher Collier. (VI
AA 1193-94).

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